THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS'
COMPENSATION COMMISSION APPELLATE PANEL

Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr., Commissioner
R. Michael Campbell, II, Commissioner
T. Scott Beck, Commissioner

Appellate Case No.: 2018-000652
W.C.C. File No.: 1600686

Francisco Cedano Ramirez, Employee, Respondent,

v.

May River Roofing, Inc. Employer, and American Zurich Insurance Co., Carrier, and
Cedano Roofing, Employer, and Travelers Property & Casualty Co., Carrier,

Of which May River Roofing, Inc. and American Zurich Insurance Co. are Petitioners.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Lee E. Dixon
Hedrick Gardner Kincheloe & Garofalo LLP

QUESTIONS PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that Respondent was a direct employee of May River Roofing based on facts that have no bearing on the tests established by prior precedent and do not rise to the level of a preponderance of the evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an alleged workers compensation case arising out of an accident that occurred on January 18, 2016. The claimant, Francisco Cedano Ramirez (“Claimant”), owned and operated a roofing company under the name of Cedano Roofing. Claimant was contracted to perform roofing work by May River Roofing (“May River”). On January 18, 2016, Claimant fell from a ladder and was injured.

Claimant brought two separate claims for workers compensation coverage related to this accident. His first claim was filed against May River and its workers compensation carrier, American Zurich Insurance Company (“Zurich”) alleging he was either a direct employee or statutory employee of May River. Claimant’s second claim was filed against his own workers compensation policy issued to Cedano Roofing by Travelers Property Casualty Company of America (“Travelers”).

A hearing was held before the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission on November 17, 2016. Claimant’s two claims were consolidated for the hearing. The hearing commissioner, Commissioner Gene McCaskill (“Single Commissioner”), found that Claimant was an independent contractor of May River and was, therefore, not a direct employee or a statutory employee. The Single Commissioner also found that Claimant had expressly excluded himself from coverage on the policy issued to his company and, therefore, was not entitled to coverage under that policy. The Single Commissioner’s order was affirmed in its entirety by the Appellate Panel of the

Full Commission on March 30, 2018.

Claimant appealed the decision of the Appellate Panel to the Court of Appeals. In an Opinion issued on June 23, 2021, the Court of Appeals affirmed the findings that Claimant was not entitled to coverage under the Cedano Roofing policy and that Claimant was not a statutory employee of May River. The Court of Appeals, however, reversed the Appellate Panel and concluded that Claimant was a direct employee of May River and entitled to coverage under May River's/Zurich's policy.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Upon review, a decision of an administrative agency should be affirmed unless that decision is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the record as a whole. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(g)(6)(1976); *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 133-34, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). The court reviewing the agency's decision should not substitute its own findings of fact for those of the agency nor should the court substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence. *Tobey v. L&P Const. Co.*, 296 S.C. 122, 370 S.E.2d 897 (Ct. App. 1988).

The question of an employee relationship is a jurisdictional issue for the purposes of workers' compensation benefits and thus, the Courts' review is governed by the preponderance of the evidence standard. *Vines v. Champion Bldg. Prod.*, 315 S.C. 13, 431 S.E.2d 585 (1993); *but see Smith v. Squire Timber Co.*, 311 S.C. 321, 428 S.E.2d 878 (1993) (applying substantial evidence standard to independent contractor analysis). As to a jurisdictional question, the Court may take its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *S.C. Workers' Comp. Comm'n v. Ray Covington Realtors, Inc.*, 318 S.C. 546, 459 S.E.2d 302 (1995).

ARGUMENT

THE APPELLATE PANEL CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT CLAIMANT WAS AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AND NOT A DIRECT EMPLOYEE OF MAY RIVER.

Under the South Carolina Workers Compensation Law (the "Act"), only employees are entitled to benefits. Independent contractors are not. *See e.g., Smith*, 311 S.C. at 324, 428 S.E.2d at 880 ("As a general rule, independent contractors or subcontractors are not included under the Workers' Compensation Act."). The Appellate Panel, after a thorough review of the facts of this case, came to the conclusion that Claimant was, in fact, an independent contractor and not an employee of May River. This decision rested upon the Commission's analysis of the applicable four-factor test, as well as the simple reality that the parties, including Claimant, did not consider their relationship to be that of employer-employee. The Court of Appeals erred in disregarding this reality and erroneously relied on evidence not relevant to the four-factor test established by prior precedent.

I. Neither Claimant nor May River considered their relationship to be employer-employee.

Claimant started his own roofing company approximately four years prior to the hearing in this case. (App. p. 188, lines 22-25). Following the creation of his company, and prior to the point where he began working with May River, he filed taxes and obtained workers' compensation insurance for that company. (App. p. 192, lines 6-9). The record shows that Claimant had used an agent to purchase a workers compensation policy in the name of his company. (App. p. 189, lines 5-12; *see also* App. 362). At the time he obtained this policy, Claimant, as the sole proprietor of the business, elected to exclude himself from coverage. (App. p. 156, lines 3-23). Claimant testified that when he began working with May River, the owner, Antonio Sandoval, told him he had to have

insurance in order to be a subcontractor. (App. p. 175, lines 18-22). May River also obtained copies of Certificates of Insurance from its subcontractors, including Claimant, and routinely confirmed that those policies remained in effect periodically during their relationship. (App. p. 207, lines 6-22).

According to the testimony from May River's manager, Leslie Sandoval, all subcontractors were issued 1099s at the end of the year. (App. p. 204, lines 6-8). Claimant was issued a 1099 for each year he worked for May River. (App. p. 204 lines 9-15; *see also*, App. p. 576). Claimant agreed that he received a 1099 from May River and that he gave them his tax preparer. (App. p. 187, lines 17-21). In this tax returns, Claimant reported all of his income as a "Roofing Contractor" coming from "Cedano Roofing and Woodworking." (App. pp. 553, 581). Claimant declared himself "self-employed." (App. pp. 552, 580). Claimant also took deductions for his work expenses and paid self-employment tax. (App. p. 195, lines 6-18; *see also*, App. p. 554, 555, 582, 583).

In light of these facts, and the record as a whole, the Appellate Panel determined that "the weight of evidence is clearly on the side of the Claimant being in independent contractor." (App. p. 91, ¶ 11). The Appellate Panel further found that "[w]hen the evidence is viewed as a whole, we must conclude that the Claimant was a sub-contractor who carried valid workers' compensation coverage. Unfortunately, the Claimant elected not to cover himself on his own policy." (App. p. 92, ¶ 22). In making these findings, the Appellate Panel affirmed the order of the Single Commissioner and found that May River and Zurich were not responsible for providing workers compensation benefits to Claimant. The Court of Appeals, however, took a different view and concluded that the evidence weighed in favor of an employer-employee relationship. In reaching this decision, the Court focused on the few facts it deemed determinative: (1) whether Claimant was required to wear a May River branded T-shirt and use a vehicle decal; (2) the exclusivity of the relationship; and (3) the fact

that May River provided the construction materials to be used on the job. May River contends that the Court of Appeals misapplied the law in analyzing these factors and erred in reaching the decision that Claimant was an employee despite the course of conduct that showed otherwise.

II. The evidence supports the Appellate Panel's decision that Claimant was an independent contractor.

The burden of proving an employee-employer relationship is on the claimant, and the claimant must show such a relationship by the greater weight of the evidence. *Lewis v. L.B. Dynasty*, 411 S.C. 637, 770 S.E.2d 393 (2015). As stated by this court,

Under settled law, the determination of whether a claimant is an employee or independent contractor focuses on the issue of control, specifically whether the purported employer had the right to control the claimant *in the performance of his work*. In evaluating the right of control, the Court examines four factors which serve as a means of analyzing the work relationship as a whole: (1) direct evidence of the right or exercise of control; (2) furnishing of equipment; (3) method of payment; (4) right to fire.

Wilkinson v. Palmetto State Transp. Co., 382 S.C. 295, 299, 676 S.E.2d 700, 702 (2009)(internal citations omitted)(emphasis added). These four factors are to be "evaluated in an evenhanded manner" in making the determination whether a claimant is an employee or an independent contractor. *Id.*, 382 S.C. at 307, 676 S.E.2d at 706.

a. Right or Exercise of Control

In its Opinion, the Court of Appeals noted that this factor weighed both in favor of and against a finding that May River exercised control over Claimant. The Court stated:

In terms of regular supervision, there appears to be conflicting testimony. Ramirez says the owner of May River supervised his work and would sometime give him directions. May River contends Ramirez had no supervision other than May River verifying his work once he completed a job. This dispute aside, everyone concedes Ramirez is a skilled roofer who did not need day-to-day supervision. To sum, there is

little evidence May River controlled the finer points of how Ramirez went about his work as a roofer.

(App. p. 5) The record certainly supports this conclusion that there is little evidence of control. According to Claimant, he didn't punch a clock (App. p. 194, lines 6-8); he wasn't told when to start work (App. p. 194, lines 9 – 18); he wasn't required to work a certain number of hours per work day (App. p. 194, line 23 – p. 195, line 1); and he was only supervised "on occasion" (App. p. 193, line 19 – p. 194, line 5). Claimant testified that if he needed help to complete a job he was hired for, he had the ability to hire workers for his crew and that he would have to pay those workers out of his own pocket using the money he was being paid by May River. (App. p. 184, lines 19-22). The testimony of May River corroborates this lack of control. May River contracted Claimant to perform roofing work and was only concerned with the finished product, not the specifics of how the job was to be done. (App. p. 201, line 19 – p. 202, line 18). According to May River, Claimant was free to negotiate for additional payment once he saw the job he was assigned by the work order and was able to decline jobs if he chose to. (App. p. 201, lines 8-18; p. 204, line 25-p. 125, line 4). May River specifically relied on Claimant to get the job done timely and correctly, without supervision. (App. p. 221, lines 12-24).

Notwithstanding this "great deal of autonomy," the Court of Appeals reversed the Appellate Panel. In doing so, the Court relied on its belief that May River "required" Claimant to wear May River branded t-shirts and display a magnetic May River decal on the side of his truck. (App. p. 6). As an initial matter, the evidence on this point is also in conflict. Claimant testified "I had to wear his T-shirts and I had to use the images from the company wherever I went on my automobile." (App. p. 176, lines 3 – 5). May River testified that these were marketing materials that were handed

out to workers and non-workers alike on jobs and other outside events. (App. p. 205, line 23 – p. 206, line 19). According to May River, workers on their job sites routinely wore shirts from other companies so there was no specific “requirement” for Claimant to wear or use the branded items. Regardless of whether or not the use of these branded items was “required,” it is clear that under South Carolina law the use of such branded items does not give rise to an inference of control for purposes of determining the employment status of a worker.

In *Jamison v. Morris*, 385 S.C. 215, 684 S.E.2d 168 (2009), this court directly addressed the argument as to whether the requirement to use branding renders a worker an employee. *Jamison* involved a franchise location where the franchisor was sued in tort for the actions of an employee of the franchisee. This Court determined that the use of such branding did not rise to the level of constituting control over the operations of the franchisee. *Jamison*, 385 S.C. at 225, 684 S.E.2d at 173 (“We find no evidence to support a finding that either entity had the right or power to control Mini Mart in the performance of its retail alcoholic beverage sales or in the manner in which that work was done”); *see also Wilkinson*, 382 S.C. at 303, 676 S.E.2d at 703 (finding presence of insignia on tractor not controlling where contractor owned tractor and paid all costs associated with it).

Likewise, the use of branded T-shirts for marketing purposes does not rise to the level of control over the performance of the work that Claimant was contracted to do. *See e.g., Shatto v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 406 S.C. 470, 477, 753 S.E.2d 416, 420 (2013) (“The right to control does not require the dictation of the thinking and manner of performing the work. It is enough if the employer has the right to direct the person by whom the services are to be performed, the time, place, degree, and amount of said services.”). In this case, the use of branded t-shirts simply has no bearing

on whether May River had the right control the time, place, degree, and amount of roofing work that Claimant did for May River. His appearance while performing work has no relevance to May River's alleged right to control the performance of that work.

The Court of Appeals also found that the exclusivity of Claimant's relationship weighed in favor of an employment relationship because the "fact that [Claimant] relied on May River for work *suggests* May River had the right to control [Claimant] by withholding work." (App. p. 6)(emphasis added). According to Claimant, he was told by the owner of May River that "if I worked with him, that I could only work for him and no one else." (App. p. 176, lines 2 – 3). May River admitted that it "preferred" their contractors to work only with the but there was no requirement for that. (App. p. 204, lines 16 – 24). In reversing the Appellate Panel, the Court of Appeals apparently inferred a right of control over the manner and means of doing a contracted piece of work based solely on the frequency with which the worker is contracted to perform it. There is simply no evidence or prior precedent to support this inference.

As discussed above, the testimony is undisputed that Claimant was free to accept jobs, reject jobs, renegotiate work and compensation, and hire his own employees to complete any contracted work. If May River were to determine that it no longer wanted to continue contracting work through Claimant, the record is clear that Claimant was free to find other work as a roofer. This right to determine whether the working relationship continues, while arguably of value in analyzing the "right to fire" has no relevance to the "right to control." Creating a legal presumption of an employment relationship based on the exclusivity of the relationship will certainly lead to unintended consequence. For example, if a large grocery chain contracted with a freight company to handle all of its deliveries from its suppliers, this inference would render that grocery chain the employer of all of

the freight company's employees. This presumption is not supported by existing precedent and it was err for the Court of Appeals to create this inference.

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioners respectfully contend that it was error for the Court of Appeals to reverse the findings of the Appellate Panel and determined that the evidence of the right to control weighed in favor of an employer/employee relationship.

b. Furnishing of Equipment

In reversing the Appellate Panel, the Court of Appeals determined that the fact that May River provided the construction materials to be used on the job constituted evidence that weighed in favor of an employer/employee relationship. Petitioners respectfully contend that this was error as the Court misconstrued and conflated the supply of "materials" with that of supplying the "equipment" used by Claimant on the job. The record demonstrates that Claimant provided all or most of the essential equipment used on the job. According to Claimant, "I provide my auto, my compressor, the pouch, everything that should go be on the pouch. I had my own ladder, but he would lend me his own." (App. p. 184, lines 2 – 4) Claimant confirmed he provided his own transportation to and from work (App. p. 188, lines 18 – 20). According to Claimant, May River provided the "shingles, nails, and other materials" for the jobs he was hired to do. (App. p. 177, lines 12 – 14)

The materials provided by May River were the necessary components of the job (i.e., "roofing") that Claimant was hired to install as part of a larger construction project. These materials are not the types of items properly considered to be "equipment" for purposes of this analysis. As cited by this Court in *Lewis*, supra:

Major items of equipment include such things as tools, machinery, special clothing, parts, and other similar items necessary for the worker to accomplish the task to be performed. For example, a plumber, hired to perform plumbing repairs on a building, usually brings the tools, the parts, and often special equipment in the form of augers, pipe cutters and threaders, etc., in order to perform the service. Those are the sorts of items which constitute the 'major items of equipment' under the third element of the right to control test.

Lewis, 411 S.C. at 643, 770 S.E.2d at 396 (quoting *Matter of Hanson*, 754 P.2d 444, 447 (1988)); see also, *Ray Covington Realtors, Inc.*, 318 S.C. at 548, 459 S.E.2d at 303 (providing forms and office space did not weigh in favor of employee/employer relationship). The facts in this case demonstrate that May River provided only those construction materials for which it would bill the ultimate client in accordance with an estimate that had been provided to the customer. (App. p. 349, 423) Claimant was contracted to take those materials and perform the roofing installation in accordance with this best judgment, skill, and ability. It would be a poor business practice for a roofing contractor like May River to give its independent contractors the ability to choose the specific roofing shingles, roofing paper, and flashing to be installed without regard to the quality specified or expected by the ultimate customer. Moreover, the evidence is clear that Claimant was paid for his labor only based on the specific scope of work to be done and his own productivity. If materials were to be provided by the contractor, the pricing agreement would necessary have to include that. It makes no practical sense to find a contractor to be an employee for performing work using materials that he was not contracted to supply. The critical issue for this analysis is whether the contractor provided his own equipment that was needed in order to perform the work he was hired to do. The uncontroverted evidence in this case is that Claimant did provide that equipment.

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioners respectfully contend that it was error for the Court of Appeals to reverse the findings of the Appellate Panel and determined that the evidence regarding furnishing of equipment weighed in favor of an employer/employee relationship.

c. Method of Payment and Right to Fire