RECEIVED**Sep 20 2021****S.C. SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM
THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr., Commissioner
R. Michael Campbell, II, Commissioner
T. Scott Beck, Commissioner

Appellate Case No. 2018-000652
Workers' Compensation Claim No.: 1600686

Francisco Cedano Ramirez, Employee, Appellant,

v.

May River Roofing, Inc., Employer, and American Zurich Insurance Co., Carrier, and
Cedano Roofing, Employer, and Traveler's Property & Casualty Co., Carrier,

Of Which May River Roofing, Inc. and American Zurich Insurance Co. are Petitioners.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Joseph DuBois

Statement of Issues

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding that Respondent Ramirez (hereinafter “Ramirez”) was a direct employee of Petitioner May River Roofing (hereinafter “May

River Roofing”) by disregarding that the parties did not consider their relationship to be that of employer-employee.

2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding that Ramirez was a direct employee of May River Roofing based on facts that have no bearing on the tests established by prior precedent and do not rise to the level of preponderance of the evidence, including:

- a. in apparently inferring a right to control over the manner and means of doing a contracted piece of work based solely on the frequency with which the worker is contracted to perform it;
- b. in misconstruing and conflating the supply of materials to Ramirez with the supplying of equipment to Ramirez; and
- c. in determining that the method of payment and right to fire factors either supported an independent contractor relationship or did not favor either side despite Petitioners’ allegations regarding the method of payment and right to fire.

Statement of Facts

Ramirez earned a living as a roofer in Beaufort County and was the sole proprietor of Cedano Roofing. Ramirez began working with May River Roofing approximately one (1) year after he started Cedano Roofing and worked continuously and exclusively with May River Roofing for approximately three (3) years.

In January 2016, Ramirez was working in Beaufort County on a job for May River Roofing when he fell approximately sixteen (16) feet from the roof to the ground below. Ramirez sustained significant injuries to his back, neck, shoulders, chest, ribs, lungs, and upper extremities because of his fall.

Ramirez filed two workers' compensation claims arising from the accident, including one in which he claimed he was May River Roofing's direct and statutory employee and another in which he claimed he was covered under an insurance policy he purchased personally from Travelers Insurance.

The Single Commissioner found Ramirez was not covered under the Travelers Insurance policy because he elected not to cover himself. The Single Commissioner also found Ramirez was not May River Roofing's direct or statutory employee because he was an independent contractor. The Single Commissioner further found the parties stipulated as to Ramirez's average weekly wage.

Ramirez filed a Form 30 requesting review of the Single Commissioner's decision. After oral argument, an appellate panel affirmed the Single Commissioner's findings with little to no changes.

Ramirez filed an appeal requesting review of the appellate panel's decision. After oral argument, the Court of Appeals affirmed the appellate panel's finding that Ramirez was not covered under the Travelers Insurance policy because he elected to exclude himself, affirmed the appellate panel's finding that Ramirez was not a statutory employee of May River Roofing, but unanimously reversed the appellate panel's finding that Ramirez was not a direct employee of May River Roofing and that the parties had stipulated to the compensation rate. The Court of Appeals further remanded the case to the Workers' Compensation Commission for further proceedings consistent with its opinion.

Following denial of their Petition for Rehearing by the Court of Appeals, Petitioners May River Roofing and American Zurich Insurance Co. filed a Petition for Certiorari with the South Carolina Supreme Court. Ramirez here responds in opposition to same.

Standard

Rule 242(b), SCACR, *Certiorari to the Court of Appeals*, provides that

... a writ of certiorari is not a matter of right, but of sound judicial discretion, and will be granted only where there are special and important reasons. The following, while neither controlling nor fully measuring the Supreme Court's discretion or power to grant review in general, indicate the character of reasons which will be considered:

- (1) Where there are novel questions of law.
- (2) Where there is a dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals.
- (3) Where the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a prior decision of the Supreme Court.
- (4) Where substantial constitutional issues are directly involved.
- (5) Where a federal question is included and the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the United States Supreme Court.

Notably, none of the reasons for granting the writ of certiorari listed above are present in the Petition: The Petition contains no novel questions of law, there is no dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals, the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a prior decision of the Supreme Court, there are no substantial constitutional issues directly involved, and there are no federal questions included in the decision.

Argument

Petitioners argue that the Court of Appeals erred in unanimously reversing the appellate panel of the Workers' Compensation Commission's determination that Ramirez was an independent contractor and not a direct employee of May River Roofing.¹

¹ Petitioners do not challenge the determination of the Court of Appeals that the Appellate Panel of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission erred in finding that the parties stipulated to the compensation rate.

1. The Court of Appeals did not err in finding that Ramirez was a direct employee of May River Roofing despite Petitioners' allegations regarding the parties view of their relationship.

Petitioners argue that the Court of Appeals erred in finding that Ramirez was a direct employee because the parties did not consider their relationship to be that of employer-employee.² In support of this argument, Petitioners cite facts relating to Ramirez's work as a roofer in the years leading up to his subject accident, including that he personally purchased workers' compensation insurance as required by May River Roofing.

However, under the relevant South Carolina precedent, such being the employment test described in *Wilkinson v. Palmetto State Transp. Co.*, 382 S.C. 295, 676 S.E.2d 700 (2009), whether the parties considered their relationship to be that of employer-employee is irrelevant. The Court of Appeals analyzed the issue of whether Ramirez was an employee or an independent contractor of May River Roofing by correctly utilizing the employment test set forth in *Wilkinson*, which the Court of Appeals described in its opinion as the "modern bellweather case" for such determination.

The Court of Appeals examined each of the four factors at length, concluding that the right or exercise of control factor weighed in favor of an employment relationship, the furnishing of equipment factor weighed in favor of an employment relationship, the method of payment factor weighed in favor of an independent contractor relationship, and that the right to fire factor did not favor either form of relationship.

The Court of Appeals also considered a previous appellate case concerning roofers, *Marlow v. E. L. Jones & Son, Inc.*, 248 S.C. 568, 151 S.E.2d 747 (1966), and found such case to

² Ramirez expressly disputes he did not consider the relationship to be that of employer-employee.

be “easily distinguishable,” stating “[a]lthough there are some similarities between *Marlow* and the present case, we believe the control May River exercised by being the exclusive provider of work in his full time profession and by controlling Ramirez’s appearance while working distinguishes this case from that one.”

The Court of Appeals then further considered the Supreme Court’s examination of the *Wilkinson* defendant trucking company’s entire operation in its finding that there was no employment relationship in *Wilkinson*. The Court of Appeals stated:

We see this case as meaningfully different from *Wilkinson*, especially for the reasons noted above. If the record—as in *Wilkinson*—contained a detailed independent contractor agreement requiring [Ramirez] to protect himself against the cost of being hurt at work, we would likely feel differently. As it stands, we lean in favor of coverage based on the facts of this case and in order to serve the Act’s beneficent purpose.

Thus, the Court of Appeals did not err in determining that Ramirez was a direct employee of May River Roofing.

2(a). The Court of Appeals did not err in finding that Ramirez was a direct employee of May River Roofing despite Petitioners’ allegations regarding the parties’ exclusive relationship and controlling Ramirez’s clothing.

Petitioners argue that the Court of Appeals, in determining that Ramirez was a direct employee, erred in inferring a right to control based upon May River Roofing controlling Ramirez’s clothing and the exclusive relationship of Ramirez’s work for May River Roofing. Petitioners argue that the use of branded items does not give rise to an inference of control, citing *Jamison v. Morris*, 385 S.C. 215, 684 S.E.2d 168 (2009) and *Wilkinson*, *Id.* Petitioners further argue that the right to determine whether the working relationship continues has no relevance to the “right to control,” citing *Shatto v. McLeod Reg’l Med. Ctr.*, 406 S.C. 470, 753 S.E.2d 416 (2013).

However, the Court of Appeals squarely addressed Petitioners' arguments, stating:

These features – an exclusive relationship and controlling Ramirez's clothing – may seem trivial, but we think they are not. An independent contractor is someone who is hired “to do a piece of work according to his own methods” and is not subject to anyone's control except as to the result of his or her work. *Chavis v. Watkins*, 256 S.C. 30, 32, 180 S.E.2d 648, 649 (1971). There is no disputing May River directly exercised control over Ramirez's appearance and, thus, was controlling more than would be found in a true independent contract relationship. The exclusivity of this arrangement also suggests Cedano Roofing was less of an “independent” business, and more an extension of May River. Cf. *Watkins v. Mobile Oil Corp.*, 291 S.C. 62, 352 S.E.2d 284 (Ct. App. 1986) (agency between oil company and service station employee not established when employee was permitted to wear clothing with oil company's emblem, when service station merely sold oil company's products, and when there was no evidence oil company controlled station operations).

The Court of Appeals determined that these facts, including that May River Roofing required all subcontractors like Ramirez to wear May River Roofing shirts while at a jobsite and that either Ramirez was not allowed to work with any other roofing companies or that May River Roofing preferred workers like Ramirez to only accept jobs from May River, suggests a right to control.

Thus, the Court of Appeals did not err finding that Ramirez was a direct employee of May River Roofing by inferring a right to control based upon an exclusive relationship and May River Roofing controlling Ramirez's clothing.

2(b). The Court of Appeals did not err in finding that Ramirez was a direct employee of May River Roofing despite Petitioners' allegations regarding conflation of materials and equipment

Petitioners argue that the Court of Appeals erred in finding that Ramirez was a direct employee of May River Roofing by conflating the supply of materials to Ramirez with supplying him equipment.

Petitioners argue that the materials provided by May River Roofing to Ramirez were the necessary components of the job that Ramirez was hired to install as part of a larger construction project, and that such materials are not of the type to be considered "equipment" for purposes of analysis. Petitioners cite *Lewis v. L.B. Dynasty*, 411 S.C. 637, 770 S.E.2d 393 (2015) and *South Carolina Workers' Compensation Com'n v. Ray Covington Realtors, Inc.*, 459 S.E.2d 302, 318 S.C. 546 (S.C. 1994) in support of such argument.

Regarding the furnishing of equipment factor, the Court of Appeals opinion stated:

The furnishing of equipment prong weighs in favor of an employment relationship. May River provided Ramirez with all of the materials he used for roofing jobs. While Ramirez provided his own tools and vehicle, May River's complete assumption of the material costs suggests May River retained the right to direct how the materials were used and is direct evidence of control over Ramirez.

May River would also occasionally lend Ramirez equipment and assisted Ramirez financially when he purchased some of his own equipment. And, as mentioned above, May River provided Ramirez with a branded t-shirt and magnetic decal for his truck. Given that May River provided Ramirez with clothing, marketing materials, and the materials necessary to complete each roofing job, we find the furnishing equipment factor weighs in favor of an employment relationship.

As set forth in its opinion excerpted above, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that May River Roofing provided both the materials and the equipment used by Ramirez in performing the roofing work.

Thus, the Court of Appeals did not err finding that Ramirez was a direct employee of May River Roofing.

2(c). The Court of Appeals did not err in finding that Ramirez was a direct employee of May River Roofing despite Petitioners' allegations regarding the method of payment and right to fire factors

Petitioners argue that the Court of Appeals erred in finding that Ramirez was a direct employee of May River Roofing based in part on its determination that the method of payment and right to fire either supported an independent contractor relationship or did not favor either side. Petitioners argue that, as such, Petitioners simply rely on the evidence cited as supporting the decision of the Appellate Panel that Respondent was an independent contractor.

Regarding the method of payment factor, in its opinion the Court of Appeals stated:

The method of payment factor weighs in favor of an independent contractor relationship. Though Ramirez was paid by the hour for repair work, most of his work was compensated "per roofing square;" as apparently is common in the roofing industry. In other words, for most of his work, Ramirez's compensation depended on how much work he did. It did not depend on the amount of time he spent working.

Regarding the right to fire factor, in its opinion the Court of Appeals stated, in part:

The right to fire prong does not favor either party. Apparently, there were individual contracts for each roofing job. These were typically executed before multi-day projects but after smaller, single day projects. The only sample contract in the record between Ramirez and May River was bare bones and of no help to our review of this issue.

The right to unilaterally and immediately end the relationship without future liability is a hallmark of an employment relationship. *Id.* at 481, 753 S.E.2d at 422. An independent contractor, however, typically has the right to complete the job unless the parties' agreement provides otherwise. *Id.* Nothing in this record points decisively in either direction.

As set forth in its opinion, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that the method of payment and right to fire factors either supported an independent contractor relationship or did not favor either side.